          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          8

          9  -------------------------------x

         10

                            November 30, 2005

         11                 Start:  12:15 p.m.

                            Recess: 12:33 p.m.

         12

                            City Hall

         13                 Committee Room

                            New York, New York

         14

         15       B E F O R E:

         16              DAVID WEPRIN

                                           Chairperson,

         17

         18              COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Madeline Provenzano

                                            Christine Quinn

         19                                 Gale Brewer

                                            Leroy Comrie

         20                                 Bill DeBlasio

                                            Simcha Felder

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3  COUNCIL MEMBERS:

          4

             Lewis Fidler

          5  James Gennaro

             Robert Jackson

          6  Helen Sears

             Dennis Gallagher

          7  James Oddo

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             George Glatter

          4  Assistant Commissioner

             NYC Department of Small Business Services

          5

             Kevin Fullington

          6  Deputy Director and General Counsel

             City Legislative Affairs

          7

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to this morning's Finance -- is it still

          4  morning? No. I guess it's good afternoon. Good

          5  afternoon, and welcome to this afternoon's Finance

          6  Committee hearing.

          7                 My name is David Weprin, and I'm

          8  Chair of the Committee. We have a number of

          9  colleagues here, and we'll have some more.

         10                 We have Councilman Bill DeBlasio from

         11  Brooklyn, Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan,

         12  Council Member Simcha Felder from Brooklyn, Council

         13  Member Lew Fidler from Brooklyn, and Council Member

         14  Madeline Provenzano from the Bronx.

         15                 We will consider three resolutions

         16  which set the hearing date on local laws authorizing

         17  budget increases for 14 Business Improvement

         18  Districts, and one Special Assessment District.

         19                 The first reso, 1242-A, sets December

         20  21st as the date for a hearing on a local law,

         21  authorizing the increase for 11 BIDs, and one

         22  Special Assessment District located in the boroughs

         23  of Brooklyn, Manhattan and Queens.

         24                 The other two resos set December 21st

         25  as the date for a hearing on local laws authorizing
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          2  budget increases for the 14th Street Union Square

          3  Business Improvement District and the Times Square

          4  Business Improvement District, both in Manhattan.

          5                 The statute authorizing the

          6  establishment of the BIDs and amendments to the

          7  district plans by which they operate provides that

          8  the Council may by local law authorize increases to

          9  a BID's annual budget, notices to be by publication.

         10                 However, in the past we have asked

         11  the Department of Business Services, Small Business

         12  Services, to send notices by mail to all property

         13  owners and BIDs when the BID is seeking an increase

         14  in its budget, and we will do the same in the case

         15  of these BIDs.

         16                 Finally, we have a preconsidered

         17  local law which the Administration has requested we

         18  adopt today extending the current subsidized private

         19  bus franchises for three more months so that the

         20  Administration can continue and hopefully conclude

         21  its negotiations to turn these over to the MTA.

         22                 We will now hear from the Department

         23  of Small Business Services. We've been joined by

         24  Council Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan, and

         25  our Majority Whip, Council Member Leroy Comrie from
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          2  Queens.

          3                 George Glatter.

          4                 And we're joined by Council Member

          5  Christine Quinn from Manhattan. If I introduce

          6  everybody they're less likely to leave.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: All

          8  right, good afternoon, Chairman Weprin and members

          9  of the Finance Committee. My name is George Glatter,

         10  I'm an Assistant Commissioner at the Department of

         11  Small Business Services.

         12                 SBS supports the City Council

         13  resolution, setting the date, time and place for the

         14  public hearing concerning an increase in the amount

         15  to be expended in 13 Business Improvement Districts

         16  and one Special Assessment District.

         17                 The associations will arrange for the

         18  publication of a notice of the public hearing at

         19  least once in a local newspaper having general

         20  circulation in the districts, specifying the time

         21  when and the place where the hearing will be held,

         22  and stating the proposed amounts to be expended

         23  annually.

         24                 In addition, they will mail notices

         25  to property owners providing them with information
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          2  about the public hearing, as well as the reasons for

          3  their requests for the increased assessments.

          4                 The associations requesting increases

          5  of annual expenditures desire to further expand and

          6  reinforce existing supplemental services currently

          7  provided in the Business Improvement Districts or

          8  Special Assessment District.

          9                 Those wishing to increase the amounts

         10  to be expended annually beginning July 1st, 2005,

         11  are as follows: The Metrotech Area BID, $2,624,492.

         12                 34th Street Partnership, $8,657,000.

         13                 The Grand Central Partnership,

         14  $11,565,540.

         15                 The Fifth Avenue BID, $2,282,500.

         16                 The Fashion Center BID to $4,360,000.

         17                 The Grant Street BID in Brooklyn to

         18  $135,200.

         19                 The 125th Street BID in Manhattan to

         20  $603,000.

         21                 The Washington Heights BID in

         22  Manhattan, going to $517,422.

         23                 The Kings Highway BID in Brooklyn to

         24  $250,000.

         25                 The Downtown Lower Manhattan Alliance
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          2  to $13 million.

          3                 The Woodhaven BID to $218,000.

          4                 The Fulton Mall Special Assessment

          5  District to $1,430,000.

          6                 The Times Square Alliance to

          7  $9,632,000.

          8                 And last, the 14th Street Union

          9  Square BID, or Partnership Alliance, whatever they

         10  call themselves this week, $1,439,500.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Glatter.

         14                 Any questions? Council Member Brewer.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Are you

         16  telling me that that's the number, in other words,

         17  from $13 million I guess in Grand Central down to

         18  whatever it was in Woodhaven, those are the numbers

         19  that the BID will go to?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         21  Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Not the

         23  numbers that they're currently at?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         25  Right. This is what the proposed legislation would
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          2  raise them to.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          4                 And, I'm sorry, I missed the

          5  beginning. What's the percentage? Is it an

          6  across-the-board percentage increase? Or it varies?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: It

          8  definitely varies.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: So,

         11  you're going from anything from, starting at the

         12  lowest level is probably five percent and going up,

         13  to some who haven't gotten increases in a very long

         14  time, which I think is Grant Street is probably the

         15  highest in Brooklyn, which is 58 percent.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         18  They've all been approved by the boards of the BIDs.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         20                 And then the other question I have

         21  is, what's an Assessment District? I certainly know

         22  what a Business Improvement District is.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: Prior

         24  to there being Business Improvement Districts there

         25  were four Special Assessment Districts established.
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          2  They were done under separate pieces of legislation

          3  and had to be approved by the State individually.

          4  So, it was a difficult process to go through. The

          5  four are, you know, right now you have two in

          6  Jamaica, Queens. You have another one that was

          7  established on the Nassau Mall out here, and the

          8  fourth one is the Fulton Mall in Downtown Brooklyn.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So those are

         10  precursors to BIDs?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: In other

         13  words, many of the BIDs were Assessment Districts?

         14  Because I've never heard that.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: No.

         16  The BIDs were established following State

         17  legislation that allowed for a Business Improvement

         18  District basically saying here is State legislation,

         19  if you do the following things, you could become a

         20  Business Improvement District, rather than having to

         21  come up to Albany with a special separate piece of

         22  legislation establishing each one individually.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         24                 So, and the Assessment District is

         25  also up today, or is that just setting the date, the
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          2  assessment?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: The

          4  Assessment District sets -- also there's an increase

          5  there setting the date for the public hearing. It

          6  follows the same process.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          8                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you.

         10                 We've been joined by Helen Sears from

         11  Queens.

         12                 Welcome.

         13                 Any further questions? Okay, if all

         14  the members could just bear with me, we need two

         15  more for a vote, and I understand two members are in

         16  the building and on the way up.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Council

         18  member, is the Administration going to come to speak

         19  about the transportation bill, extension? Is anyone

         20  from the Administration going to come?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I don't think so,

         22  because it's only a three-month extension.

         23                 You want an update on the status of

         24  the talks?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I think that
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          2  it would be, you know, fair to them and actually

          3  prudent to them and to actually anyone interested,

          4  you know, the people that are involved and watch

          5  these hearings and some explanation from the Mayor's

          6  Office as to what's going on.

          7                 You know, as you know, our riders in

          8  Queens and the riders in the Bronx are severely

          9  affected by this, my riders that take the Jamaica

         10  Bus Lines and the staff and the employees would at

         11  least like to get some real assessment. And for the

         12  Mayor not to have somebody here to at least explain

         13  their position, I think is unconscionable.

         14                 And it's not that we don't want to do

         15  this. We understand the implications of it, but I'd

         16  like to know what's going on and I'd like to hear

         17  from them. And if it's going to be a three-month

         18  extension, it was explained to us in Steering that

         19  they supposedly signed something or they have some

         20  agreement, give us some details, give us some

         21  explanation, give us some facts. The next thing

         22  we'll be back here in three months and they'll say

         23  they couldn't do what ever because we don't know

         24  what ever was, and I think that that's just unfair.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Unfortunately, I

          3  would not be surprised if that's the case, that

          4  we're back here in three months. But we will

          5  certainly convey, not only your comments, but, you

          6  know, I feel strongly as well that we should get a

          7  status update, so we should probably try to have

          8  something scheduled as soon as possible and indicate

          9  that. But very likely there will be another

         10  extension as well.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I hope that we

         12  can, maybe if we can't do it today, then have a

         13  Transportation Committee meeting where the

         14  Administration could come and explain their position

         15  and hopefully they can get some kind of commitment

         16  today or at least some kind of explanation on

         17  looking at the Mayor's legislative person to convey

         18  that expression to them. Because we're in the dark

         19  and we're voting on something that gives them at

         20  least til the first day of March to get this done,

         21  and that's what we've been doing for the last three

         22  years, the last four years since we've been here.

         23  And with all of those buses -- I'm sure I'd

         24  appreciate some attention.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The new look. It
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          2  goes with the beard.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You know, with

          4  those buses that they have just sitting in the lot

          5  in the Bronx waiting to be used, and the ridership

          6  in our communities that are dealing with the worst

          7  bus lines in the City, we need to get resolution. I

          8  think that the Mayor's Office has done us a

          9  disservice by not communicating to us where they are

         10  with this process.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I understand from

         13  counsel that the contracts have been signed but the

         14  transfer has not taken place, and the Mayor's Office

         15  would be glad to sit down with members in a group or

         16  individually to give us a little more update on it.

         17                 But since we do have a quorum, I'm

         18  going to ask that we couple all four items, the two

         19  Business Improvement District proposed increases,

         20  the one Special Assessment District.

         21                 Okay, the three Business Improvement

         22  Districts, including the Special Assessment District

         23  and the three-month extension on the private bus

         24  contracts.

         25                 Call the roll.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye on

          6  all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye on all.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         10                 (No response.)

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         13                 And I hope that the Mayor's Office

         14  will do some kind of public detailed explanation so

         15  that our communities that have the worst bus

         16  services, the buses that are in most disrepair can

         17  hopefully have some relief before the Christmas

         18  Holiday. Aye on all.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye on all.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye on all.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Pass.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No way, no how,

          9  absolutely, not over my dead body, I vote aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Pass.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         13  Gallagher.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I have a

         17  question. I didn't understand the response to

         18  Council Member Comrie's request.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The response was

         20  that the Administration said they would be glad to

         21  meet either individually or collectively with any

         22  Council members.

         23                 The contract has been signed they

         24  said, and they're just waiting for a transfer and

         25  they're hoping that it will be done with in the next
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          2  three months.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But why can't

          4  they come back here to the Committee? Why do --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: They can. But we

          6  have a Stated Meeting.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm not

          8  talking about today.

          9                 If the issue is that we're going to

         10  do it today anyway, and they're making an offer to

         11  come back, instead of wasting their time, because we

         12  care about the taxpayers' money, we'll have them

         13  come back to the full committee and explain whatever

         14  he wanted to explain.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: There is someone

         16  here from the Administration. If you want to come

         17  up?

         18                 Can we just complete the vote and

         19  then he can come up?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes. I vote

         21  aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 13 in the

         25  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions,
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          2  all items are adopted. Council Members, please sign

          3  the Committee reports.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, the

          6  presentation by the Administration is optional.

          7  Could you give us a status update on the contracts?

          8                 MR. FULLINGTON: Sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm sorry,

         10  then I want to change my vote.

         11                 MR. FULLINGTON: My name is Kevin

         12  Fullington. I'm Deputy Director and General Counsel

         13  for City Legislative Affairs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: And what did

         15  you do before that?

         16                 MR. FULLINGTON: Before that I worked

         17  for the City Council.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In what

         19  capacity?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: In what

         21  capacity?

         22                 MR. FULLINGTON: I worked for various

         23  Minority Leaders of the City Council.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Who was the best

         25  Minority Leader?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Who was the

          3  best?

          4                 MR. FULLINGTON: That I worked with? I

          5  would have to say Fred Cerullo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want this

          7  witness thrown out.

          8                 MR. FULLINGTON: But to the point that

          9  you raised, Council member, the Administration would

         10  be glad to come back to the Committee or to meet in

         11  person and discuss any details about the subsidized

         12  bus contracts.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So I would

         14  request, with your permission, Chair Weprin, that he

         15  come back, instead of them having to do it over and

         16  over, that he just come back to the Committee at

         17  some point and make a brief presentation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, how about

         19  at least a written detailed status report?

         20                 Council Member Comrie would like to

         21  know what's happening.

         22                 MR. FULLINGTON: Well, I heard two

         23  issues that the Council Member raised. First was

         24  specific details about the contract. I, myself,

         25  don't know the specific details of the contracts.
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          2  What I can say is, the point that you made was that

          3  how do we know that we won't be back here a few

          4  months from now and how does this differ?

          5                 The difference is previous extensions

          6  were granted because we had an agreement in

          7  principle with the operators of these bus companies

          8  and we need time to work out the specifics.

          9                 The difference is this time we have

         10  worked out those specifics. It is my understanding

         11  that contracts have been signed and we just need

         12  time to actually effectuate the transfer.

         13                 And to your second point, which was

         14  about getting the details of these contracts, we'd

         15  be glad to have someone come and either meet with

         16  you or come before this Committee or the Land Use

         17  Committee or the Subcommittee on Zoning and

         18  Franchises and answer any questions you guys would

         19  have.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: When you say

         21  contracts have been signed, this is contracts for

         22  takeover?

         23                 MR. FULLINGTON: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Not contracts

         25  for agreement to take over or not any kind of MOUs
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          2  to take over, but this is the actual contract to

          3  take over whatever is necessary so that the City can

          4  absorb these lines, correct?

          5                 MR. FULLINGTON: Well, as I said, I

          6  don't know the specific details. What I can tell you

          7  is what is my understanding, which is that actual

          8  contracts to take over have been signed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any further

         13  questions?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Fullington,

         15  we haven't been able to find the Penske file since

         16  you left; can you tell us where the Penske file is?

         17                 MR. FULLINGTON: I think your able

         18  counsel Rob Colandra now has possession of that

         19  file.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it near the

         21  file of press releases of attacking Bill Cunningham

         22  that you did all those years?

         23                 MR. FULLINGTON: I have no idea what

         24  in the name of God you are talking about. Bill

         25  Cunningham is a good man.

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are you pleading

          3  the Fifth? Are you pleading the Fifth today?

          4                 MR. FULLINGTON: And the Fourth.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How come he

          6  wasn't this funny when he worked for the City

          7  Council?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Because he

          9  actually worked.

         10                 MR. FULLINGTON: Thank you all for

         11  your time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I think I'm going

         13  to adjourn on this note.

         14                 Council Member Fidler.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, can the

         16  tape of this meeting be destroyed?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: On that note, I'm

         18  going to adjourn this meeting and I'm going to keep

         19  the roll open for those in and around the building

         20  to vote before the Stated Meeting.

         21                 Other than that, we're adjourned.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         23  Gennaro.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I vote aye on

         25  all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

          3  14 in the affirmative.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 12:33 p.m.)
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